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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND OHIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE
The historical complex of Randolph-Macon College is located on the southwest corner of

the eighty-five-acre campus in Ashland. The oldest college buildings include Washington-—
Franklin Hall (1872), Pace Lecture Hall (1876), and Duncan Memorial Chapel (1879). Con- -
structed of brick, the buildings display a variety of stylistic influences and represent
the work of two Virginia architects, B. F. Price of Alexandria and William West of Richmond.

WASHINGTON-FRANKLIN HALL

The oldest college building on the Ashland campus, Washington-Franklin Hall was erected
in 1872. Designed in the Italianate style, the structure was constructed after the plans
of the architect, B. F. Price of Alexandria. The two-story edifice is executed in stretcher-
bond brick and covered by a hip roof. The main (south) entrance to the building is located
on College Avenue and is comprised of paneled double doors framed by pilasters that support
an arched over—door. The entrance frontispiece ig executed in wood, originally paianted in
imitation of stone. The doorway is flanked by pilasters which terminate at the capitals
in a corbeled brick belt course, The belt course runs the entire perimeter of:the building
and defines the first and second stories. Fenestration on the first story originally con-
sisted of 4/4 hung sashes. The windows are topped by flat arches with hood molds. The
second-story windows have segmental arches with hood molds. All of the buildinz's openings
have been blocked by plywood. An arched cross gable projects from the attic story and contalnsthd
lettering "Washington-Franklin Hall" and the Virginia state seal. A modillion aud dentil
cornice Iines the eaves on all elevations. The north elevation mirrors the south, with
the exception of the gable treatment. A round window with louvres replaces the state seal .
in the front gable, The treatment of the fenestration on the east and west elevatioﬁsls‘
,similar to that found on the north and south. = e

The interior of Washington-Franklin Hall is presently in a state of deterioration.
The first floor has collapsed. A central-hall stair survives to give some indication of
the building's original interior detail. Present plans call for an extensive interior
renovation. :

PACE HALL

Pace Lecture Hall was constructed in 1876 and stands parallel to Washington-Franklin
Hall. The rectangular, two-story, stretcher-bond brick building was desigpned in the
Italianate style. The main (south) elevation is dominated by a two-story cenmtral pavilion
containing the building's main entrance. The entry is comprised of a double doorway with
paneled doors, surmounted by a two-light transom set within a recessed arch. The entrance
is flanked by 4/4 hung-sash sidelights, also arched. Separated by a stone belt course,
the pavilion's second story contains pairad 6/6 hung-sash windows crowned by segmeatal-
arched heads, The pavilion is topped by a pedimented gable. The composition is f{lanked
by a projecting bay featuring 6/6 hung-sash windows with segmental-arched stome heads. The
whole is in turn flanked by a bay containing elongated 2/2 hung-sash windows. The windows
are visually connected on each story by stone bands which run from the imposts of the
arched heads., A modillion block cornice runs the perimeter of the building's eaves course,
The north elevation is comprised of six bays. Fenestration consists of 6/6 hung-sash
windows with arched heads. A belt course divides the elevation into two stories. The east
and west elevations consist of five bays, the fenestration similar to that found on the

north elevation.

(Sae Continuation Sheet #1)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Randolph-Macon College, chartered by the General Assembly in 1830, is the oldest
Methodist-related college in the United States still in operation. Situated on the southwest
cormer of the present eighty-five-acre campus in Ashland, Washington-Frarnklin Hall, Pace
Lecture Hall, and Duncan Memorial Chapel were the first brick buildings constructed after
the institution's move from Boydton to Ashland in 1868. Erected in the Italianate and
Gothic Revival styles, the buildings were desxgned by B. F. Price of Alexandria and
William W. West of Richmond. Together they form a nostalg1c image of a small late—
Victorian collegiate complex.

In 1820, and again in 1824, the General Conference of the Methodist Church meeting in
Baltimore recommended to the various conferences that they establish "literary institutions'
within their respective areas. 1In 1825 the Virginia Conference followed this recommendation
and a charter was granted by the Virginia legislature in 1830 with specific provisions that
the chartered institution not have theological professorships and that membership on the
Board of Trustees not be limited to Methodists., Thus, the operation of the college was to
be under the authority of the trustees and not of the Methodist Church. Established at
Boydton, Mecklenburg County, the institution was named for two statesmen, John Randolph of
Virginia (1773-1833) and Nathaniel Macon of North Carolina (1758-1837).

Randolph-Macon College operated in Boydton until the Civil War, when classes were
suspended, With the destruction of rail lines within southside Virginia, and with the
establishment of a Methodist college in North Carolina, the trustees voted in 1868 to -
relocate the school., Permission for a move was obtained from the commanding general of the
First Military District, since Virginia was then without a constitutional government. The
college acquired the Ashland Hotel and Mineral Wells Company resort complex in the
commumity of Ashland, twenty miles north of Richmond. Land was also contributed by the
Richmond, Fredericksburg and Potomac Railroad. '

The college opened its 1868-69 session at the Ashland location. The hotel was con-
verted into a dormitory, with the ballroom used as the chapel.. The bowling alley was used
for classrooms. An early history of the college noted, "What was defective and might have
Lzen corplained of was more than compensated by the superb faculty of dnstruction provided
for the students in attendance'”. Though under economic stress, the college persisted.

At its commencement in 1869, the school was visited by members of the Baltimore
Methodist Conference; comsequently, the Baltimore Conference agreed to pledge joint financial
support with the Virginia Conference. This financial aid, together with private gifts,
assured the school's solvency. With the third session (1870-71) an effort to build meeting
rooms and a library for the student literary and debating societies was inaugurated. The
-building, Washington-Franklin Hall, was completed in 1872 at a cost of over $12,000,
primarily raised by the students. The architect of the building was Benjamin F. Price of
Alexandria. A notice of the building appeared in the Alexandria Gazette of May 22, 1871:

{See Continuation Sheet #2)
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7. DESCRIPTION

When Pace Hall was originally built, the first floor was occupied by the department
of chemistry. Three chemical laboratories and a library adjoined a large lecture room.
The second floor consisted of a series of classrooms and a history library. The building
is presently used by the art department as studio and classroom space, Simple interior
door and window trim survives, as does a lateral stair that ascends to the second floor.

DUNCAN MEMORIAL CHAPEL

Duncan Memorial Chapel is situated to the east of Pace and Washington-Franklin
halls. The building was designed by the Richmond architect William West in 1879 as a
memorial to a former college president, James A. Duncan. The 2)-story structure was
executed in four~course American bond in a Gothie Revival style. The main (west)
elevation is dominated by a three-story entrance tower. The main entrance consists of
a shallow porch containing a double doorway, the paneled doors surmounted by a blind
transom. Buttresses define the corners of the first-story entrance porch. The second
story contains an arched window with diamond-paned lights and geometric tracery. The
third story features a round window that has been blocked. The tower is covered with
a mansard roof with projecting gabled windows and is flanked by elongated stained-glass,
lancet-arched windows. The elevation's remaining fenestration consists of pointed-
arch, hung-sash windows on the first story and pointed stained-glass windows on the second
story. The north and south elevations consist of blocked, pointed-arch windows on the
first story and stained-glass windows on the second story. The east elevation is obscured
by a two-story addition. '

The first floor of the building was originally used as a chapel and general college
auditorium. The second floor housed the Duncan Memorial Methodist Episcopal Church,
South. The building has been converted into the college theatre with much of its original
seating removed.

" The area formed by the triangular position of the bulldings preserves many old oak
and maple trees planted informally. Cement walks connect the buildings.

RCC

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

) The nominated complex of 4% acres is located on the southwest corner of the
eighty-five acre campus complex in Ashland. It is bounded on the south by College
Avenue, on the west by a line that parallels the tracks to the Richmond-Fredericksburg
and Potomac Railroad, on the north by a line that runs behind Pace Lecture Hall, and on
th? east by a line that runs behind Duncan Memorial Chapel. The nominated area’con—
stitutes a third of the size of the original campus, is connected by walks, and frames
original 19th-century plantings. There are no intrusions within the complex. RCC
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8. SICNIFICANCE

The plan designed and drawn by B. F. Price

builder of this city, for the society rooms of
Randolph-Macon College at Ashland, has been
accepted by the committee having erection of the
proposed building in charge, Mr. Price has
accomplished and experienced competitions from
Richmond and Lexington and the acceptance of his
plan is a great compliment to his mechanical skill.

The college prospered through the 1870s with increased student enrollment and
financial support. At the 1874 board meeting held in Richmond, the largest private
donation was pledged by James B, Pace, a leading Richmond tobacconist and banker.

The donation was used for the construction of Pace Lecture Hall, erected in 1876. The
building was followed in 1879 by the censtruction of Duncan Memorial Chapel, named in
honor of Dr. James A. Duncan, first president of the college following the move to
Ashland. The three brick buildings supplemented the earlier wooden hotel complex, from
which they provided a marked stylistic contrast.

At the time of the erection of the new college buildings on the Ashland campus,
American architecture was in a stylistically eclectic period. The three buildings
capture this sense of eclecticism. Washington-Franklin Hall and Pace Lecture Hall
emphasize the Italianate style. With the diffusion of the writings of the noted
architectural critic A. J. Downing, the Italianate had become the most fashionable mode
of building, readily adapted to institutional use, While William West had demonstrated
the beauty of the style on his Richmond churches ! he preferred to design the college's
Duncan Memorial Chapel in the traditional Gothic ecclesiastical style. This edifice
provides an acceptable stylistic contrast to the Italianate bulldings, while harmonizing
with the scale and materials of 1ts precursors.

The landscape of oaks and maples suggests that found when the buildings were first
erected in the 1870s. The railroad line, to the west, continues to provide a boundary
for the college,

MTP/RCC

1...4. ‘

William C. West was the successor to Albert L. West and worked as his assistant

on several Richmond churches and public buildings (see broadside list in the collection
of the Virginia Historical Society, Richmond, Virginia).




Form No 10-300a
{Rev. 10-74}

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE iNTERIOR 7 FOR NPS USE ONLY
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE D
RECEIVED

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM lDATE ENTERED

Randolph-Macon College Complex, Hanover County, Virginia

CONTINUATION SHEET §3 {ITEM NUMBER 10 PAGE 1

10. GEOGRAPHICAL DATA

Moreland Dormitory; thence extending approximately 300' SSW to N side of College
Street, thus running behind the Duncan Memorial Chapel; thence extending about
500" WNW to point of origin.
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U.3.G54 7.5 quadrangle (scale:1:24000)
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